Case No. SC12-617

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PHILIP MORRIS USA INC., R.J. REYNOLDS TOBACCO COMPANY, and LIGGETT GROUP LLC,

Defendants/Petitioners,

v.

JAMES L. DOUGLAS, as personal representative for the Estate of CHARLOTTE M. DOUGLAS,

Plaintiff/Respondent.

On Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Second District Case No. 2D10-3236

INITIAL BRIEF FOR PETITIONERS PHILIP MORRIS USA INC., R.J. REYNOLDS TOBACCO COMPANY, AND LIGGETT GROUP LLC

Gregory G. Katsas FL Bar No. 89091 Jones Day 51 Louisiana Avenue Washington, DC 20001 Phone: (202) 879-3939 Facsimile: (202) 626-1700 E-mail: ggkatsas@jonesday.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case arises in the aftermath of *Engle v. Liggett Group, Inc.*, 945 So. 2d 1246 (Fla. 2006) (per curiam) ("*Engle III*"), which decertified a statewide class of smokers injured by their addiction to cigarettes. This Court concluded that *Engle* could not proceed as a class action because "individual issues such as legal causation" vastly "predominate[d]" over common ones, *id.* at 1268, but it expressly left standing a number of findings that had been made by a jury in Phase I of the class proceedings. The Court ruled that class members could "initiate individual damages actions" against the defendants in which the findings from Phase I "will have res judicata effect." *Id.* at 1269. This "*Engle* progeny" case, like thousands of similar cases pending in the lower state and federal courts, turns on the meaning and permissible scope of that statement.

Courts are divided over the preclusive effect that the *Engle* Phase I findings can be given in class members' individual suits. Applying longstanding Florida preclusion law, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals held that, to establish elements of their claims based on the findings' preclusive effect, individual class members must point to "specific parts" of the *Engle* "trial record" showing that those specific issues were "actually adjudicated" in their favor in Phase I. *Bernice Brown v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co.*, 611 F.3d 1324, 1334-35 (11th Cir. 2010) (quoting *Gordon v. Gordon*, 59 So. 2d 40, 44 (Fla. 1952)). Several District Courts of Appeal, in contrast, have applied the findings more broadly, deeming them conclusively to establish the "conduct elements" of each tort claim pursued by plaintiffs in progeny cases without any showing that those issues were actually decided in Phase I of *Engle*.

The Second District has certified a question of great public importance that asks this Court to decide the issue left unresolved in *Engle* itself: What preclusive effect can be afforded the *Engle* Phase I findings consistent with due process?

A. The *Engle* Class Action

The *Engle* case began in 1994, when six individuals filed a class action complaint in Miami-Dade County seeking billions of dollars in damages from defendants and other tobacco companies. The *Engle* plaintiffs brought claims for strict liability, negligence, breach of warranty, fraudulent misrepresentation and concealment, conspiracy to commit fraudulent misrepresentation and concealment, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. The class ultimately certified in *Engle* encompassed all "Florida citizens and residents," "and their survivors, who have suffered, presently suffer or have died from diseases and medical conditions caused by their addiction to cigarettes that contain nicotine." *R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. Engle*, 672 So. 2d 39, 40, 42 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996).

The *Engle* trial court adopted a three-phase trial plan. The jury in Phase I returned a series of findings regarding the health effects and addictiveness of smoking and each defendant's alleged tortious conduct during a period dating back to the mid-1950s. Those findings fell into two categories. The first category established that cigarette smoking is a medical cause of 20 specific diseases, including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease ("COPD") and lung cancer, and that cigarettes that contain nicotine are addictive. *Engle III*, 945 So. 2d at 1276-77.

The second category established that each defendant had engaged in six types of tortious activity, but did not identify any particular act or omission that the jury found to be tortious from among the disparate allegations—spanning nearly five decades—that the class had attempted to prove during the year-long trial. For example, the class asserted numerous alternative theories of product defect that applied only to particular designs or brands of the defendants' cigarettes—including unfiltered cigarettes, "light" cigarettes, cigarettes with specific additives or flavorants, cigarettes with charcoal or cellulose filters, and cigarettes that used particular blends of tobacco. *See, e.g., Engle v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co.*, 2000 WL 33534572, at *2 (Fla. Cir. Ct. Nov. 6, 2000); DR. 68-73:12634-13734 [App. Tab J at 3; App. Tab P at 16312-19].¹

¹ Documents in the original record on appeal compiled by the circuit court clerk from the *Douglas* docket (or the "all cases" Hillsborough *Engle* Progeny docket) are cited as "DR. (or HR.) [volume number]: [page number(s)]." The Trial Transcript is cited as "T. [page number(s)]." For the Court's convenience, copies of

The jury was not asked to identify which of the class's alternative theories of tortious conduct it accepted. It merely answered "yes" to the following generic questions as to each defendant:

- Did the defendant "place cigarettes on the market that were defective and unreasonably dangerous?";
- Did the defendant "conceal or omit material information, not otherwise known or available, knowing the material was false or misleading [*sic*], or fail[] to disclose a material fact concerning or proving the health effects and/or addictive nature of smoking cigarettes?";
- "Did two or more of the Defendants enter into an agreement to conceal or omit information regarding the health effects of cigarette smoking, or the addictive nature of smoking cigarettes, with the intention that smokers and members of the public rely to their detriment?";
- Did the defendant "sell or supply cigarettes that were defective in that they were not reasonably fit for the uses intended?";
- Did the defendant "sell or supply cigarettes that, at the time of sale or supply, did not conform to representations of fact made by said Defendant(s), either orally or in writing?"; and
- Did the defendant "fail[] to exercise the degree of care which a reasonable cigarette manufacturer would exercise under like circumstances?"

record documents cited herein are included in an Appendix to this brief and cited as "App. Tab [letter] at [page, paragraph or section number]."

DR. 65-73:12634-13734 [App. Tab I].²

The jury did not hear evidence in Phase I about whether or how the defendants' conduct affected any particular smoker. As this Court subsequently emphasized, the Phase I findings therefore did not resolve individualized issues of "legal causation and reliance" and "did *not* determine whether the defendants were liable to anyone." *Engle III*, 945 So. 2d at 1263 (emphasis in original; internal quotation marks omitted).

In Phase II-A of *Engle*, the same jury determined individualized issues of legal causation and compensatory damages as to three named plaintiffs only; in Phase II-B, that jury assessed a classwide punitive damages award. *Engle III*, 945 So. 2d at 1257. In Phase III, separate juries would have decided for each remaining class member what the original jury decided in Phase II-A for the named plaintiffs: whether the defendants were liable to that class member, and, if so, what amount of compensatory damages was appropriate. *Id.* at 1258.

Before Phase III commenced, however, the trial court entered a final judgment in favor of the three class members whose claims were tried in Phase II-A, and the defendants appealed. This Court affirmed the final judgment as to two of

² The jury also returned findings against the defendants for affirmative fraud, conspiracy to commit fraud, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. This Court later disapproved those findings. *Engle III*, 945 So. 2d at 1255, 1276-77.

the three class representatives. It also vacated the classwide punitive damages award, and decertified the class on a prospective basis, concluding that "class action treatment for Phase III of the trial plan is not feasible because individualized issues such as legal causation, comparative fault, and damages predominate." *Engle III*, 945 So. 2d at 1268. The Court explained that, to recover on their individual claims, class members would be required to "initiate individual damages actions" against the defendants. *Id.* at 1269. The Court stated that the "Phase I common core findings . . . will have res judicata effect in those trials." *Id.*

The Court did not elaborate on this statement, and did not address the specific "res judicata effect" that the Phase I findings would have in subsequent suits filed by individual class members. As the class urged it to do, the Court left that task for courts presiding over individual class members' suits. *See* DR. 68-73:12634-13734 [App. Tab N at 5-6].

B. The Trial Court Proceedings

Plaintiff seeks to invoke the "res judicata effect" of the generalized findings from Phase I of *Engle* in this wrongful death action against defendants Philip Morris USA Inc., R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co., and Liggett Group LLC. Plaintiff's third amended complaint alleged that his wife, Charlotte Douglas, was a member of the *Engle* class who died from COPD and lung cancer caused by her addiction to cigarettes. DR. 1:74-85 [App. Tab B ¶ 2, 24]. The complaint asserted claims for strict liability, negligence, breach of express and implied warranty, fraudulent concealment, and conspiracy to commit fraudulent concealment. *Id.* ¶¶ 1-2, 28-45. Plaintiff made clear, however, that he did not actually intend to prove at trial that defendants had committed any of the tortious conduct alleged in the complaint. Rather, plaintiff stated that he would "rely[] on the Phase I *Engle* findings as *res judicata*" to "conclusively establish" the tortious conduct elements of each of his claims. *Id.* ¶¶ 1-2, 29, 32, 35, 38, 41, 44.

The trial court agreed with plaintiff's expansive interpretation of the preclusive effect of the *Engle* Phase I findings. In an Order Regarding the Effect of the *Engle* Phase I Findings on Pending Cases, the court ruled that, if plaintiff established that Mrs. Douglas was an *Engle* class member, he could invoke the *Engle* findings to establish every element of his claims except the reliance element of his fraudulent concealment claim, comparative fault, and damages. HR. 8:1514-18 [App. Tab A]. According to the trial court, "*all* issues which were or *which might have been* litigated and determined in *Engle* are preclusively established in every *Engle* progeny case," *id.* at 1 (emphases added), and plaintiff therefore was "not ... required to prove such things as design flaws with cigarettes or to identify specific acts of Defendants' negligence in order to establish a prima facie case. The preclusive effect of the *Engle* findings has already done that." *Id.* at 4. Thus, to prevail on his strict liability claim, the trial court did not require plaintiff to establish that any defect found by the *Engle* Phase I jury was present in the particular brands of cigarettes smoked by Mrs. Douglas—Lark, Benson & Hedges, Virginia Slims, Winston, and Salem. Nor did the court require plaintiff to establish that any alleged defect in those cigarettes was related *in any way* to Mrs. Douglas's specific injuries. The court similarly relieved plaintiff of his burden of proving the tortious conduct elements of his negligence, breach of warranty, fraudulent concealment, and conspiracy claims.

At trial, plaintiff focused on establishing that Mrs. Douglas was an *Engle* class member. Defendants, in turn, presented evidence that Mrs. Douglas smoked for reasons other than addiction, such as stress relief, enjoyment of cigarettes, and weight control. At the conclusion of the evidence, the trial court rejected defendants' proposed jury instructions and adopted instructions that omitted most of the bedrock elements that a tort plaintiff must prove under Florida law. For example, the trial court's strict liability instructions, adopted over defendants' objection, did not require the jury to determine whether defendants' cigarettes smoked by Mrs. Douglas contained a specific defect, or, if so, whether the defect had anything to do with, let alone caused, Mrs. Douglas's death. T. 1232-33, 1236-37 [App. Tab F].

The trial court also rejected defendants' proposed verdict form-which included questions encompassing each of the essential elements of plaintiff's tort claims under Florida law-and, again over defendants' objection, adopted a verdict form that did not include *any* questions specific to plaintiff's strict liability claim (or his claims for negligence and breach of warranty). DR. 65:12112-14 [App. Tab E]. The first question on the verdict form asked the jury to determine whether Mrs. Douglas was "a member of the Engle class." Id. The second question asked the jury to determine whether "smoking *cigarettes* manufactured by one or more of the Defendants [was] a legal cause" of Mrs. Douglas's death, and if so, to make that determination with respect to each defendant on an individualized basis. Id. (emphasis added). The jury was not asked, however, whether any *defect* in defendants' cigarettes—as opposed to simply "smoking [defendants'] cigarettes"—was a legal cause of Mrs. Douglas's death. The third question on the verdict form asked whether plaintiff had proven the reliance element of his fraudulent concealment claim. *Id.* The final two questions asked the jury to determine comparative fault and compensatory damages. Id.³

On March 10, 2010, the jury returned a verdict that found that Mrs. Douglas was an *Engle* class member and that smoking cigarettes manufactured by each defendant had caused her death. T. 2348-49 [App. Tab F]; DR. 65:12112-14 [App.

³ Plaintiff initially sought both compensatory and punitive damages, but dismissed his claim for punitive damages before trial. He did not submit a verdict form question on his conspiracy claim, and the jury therefore did not decide that claim. *See* DR. 58:10958-93 [App. Tab D]; DR. 65:12112-14 [App. Tab E].

Tab E]. According to the trial court, these findings were sufficient to establish liability on plaintiff's claims for strict liability, negligence, and breach of warranty. The jury found in defendants' favor on the fraudulent concealment claim. T. 2349 [App. Tab F]; DR. 65:12112-14 [App. Tab E]. The jury awarded plaintiff \$5 million in compensatory damages. T. 2350 [App. Tab F]; DR. 65:12112-14 [App. Tab E]. In entering final judgment, the court reduced the damages award to \$2.5 million based on Mrs. Douglas's comparative fault.

C. The Second District Court of Appeal's Decision

The Second District affirmed solely on the basis of plaintiff's strict liability claim. *Philip Morris USA, Inc. v. Douglas*, 83 So. 3d 1002, 1010 (Fla. 2d DCA 2012). The court rejected defendants' argument that *Engle* must be interpreted—consistent with Florida preclusion law and due process—to extend the benefit of preclusion only where a progeny plaintiff demonstrates that the *Engle* jury actually decided the specific facts that he seeks to establish based on the Phase I findings. Instead, the court concluded that *Engle* itself had implicitly dictated a broader scope for preclusion in progeny cases.

According to the Second District, *Engle* class members may invoke the findings' preclusive effect "as to the issues of [defendants'] conduct" without making any record-based showing that the issues they seek to establish through preclusion were actually decided in their favor in Phase I of *Engle*. *Douglas*, 83 So. 3d at 1010. The Second District therefore held that, on his strict liability claim, plaintiff was not required "to prove specific defects existing in specific cigarettes" that were smoked by Mrs. Douglas, or to identify any material in the *Engle* record demonstrating that the Phase I jury actually decided that the cigarettes smoked by Mrs. Douglas contained a defect that was related to her injuries. *Id*.

The Second District acknowledged that plaintiff was required to "prove legal causation" on all of his claims, including his non-intentional tort claims. *Douglas*, 83 So. 3d at 1010. Because "the verdict form did not ask the jury if it was [defendants'] failure to exercise reasonable care that was the legal cause of Mrs. Douglas['s] injury" and the jury made no finding on that issue, the Second District concluded it could not affirm the negligence verdict. *Id.* at 1010 n.8. But the Second District concluded that plaintiff had fully established "legal causation" on his strict liability claim merely by showing that cigarettes, as distinct from any defect in them, caused Mrs. Douglas's injuries. *Id.* at 1010.⁴

Finally, the Second District rejected defendants' argument that their federal due process rights were violated by permitting plaintiff to rely on the *Engle* Phase I

⁴ The Second District did not expressly address plaintiff's breach-of-warranty claims, but—as with the negligence claim—the jury was not asked to "make a finding of legal causation as related to" those claims because "the verdict form did not ask the jury if" defendants' breach of their express or implied warranties "was the legal cause of Mrs. Douglas['s] injury." *Douglas*, 83 So. 3d at 1010 n.8.

findings to establish the conduct elements of his claims. Having passed upon the issue, the court certified that due process question as one of great public importance. *Douglas*, 83 So. 3d at 1010.

On May 15, 2012, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court should vacate the judgment on plaintiff's claim for strict liability and order a new trial.

I. In *Engle*, this Court held that the Phase I findings would be given "res judicata effect" in suits brought by individual *Engle* class members. *Engle III*, 945 So. 2d at 1277. The question here is how to implement that holding and grant the Phase I findings preclusive effect consistent with Florida law and federal and state due process.

As the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals recognized in another *Engle* progeny case, traditional principles of Florida preclusion law apply to suits brought by *Engle* class members. *Bernice Brown*, 611 F.3d at 1334-35. This Court's statement in *Engle* that the Phase I findings would be given "res judicata effect" did not purport to alter those principles or prejudge the preclusive effect that the Phase I findings would have in individual class members' suits. It simply removed any potential uncertainty as to whether the elements of mutuality and finality prerequisites to the application of issue preclusion under Florida law, *see Dep't of* *Health & Rehabilitative Servs. v. B.J.M.*, 656 So. 2d 906, 910 (Fla. 1995)—were satisfied in the unusual procedural posture of the *Engle* case.

Thus, plaintiffs in *Engle* progeny cases face the same burden that parties seeking to invoke issue preclusion have always faced under Florida law: They must demonstrate to a "reasonable degree of certainty" (*Seaboard Coast Line R.R. Co. v. Indus. Contracting Co.*, 260 So. 2d 860, 865 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972)) that the issues on which preclusion is sought were "actually litigated *and decided*" in the prior case. *Gordon*, 59 So. 2d at 45 (emphasis added).

The first two *Engle* findings—that smoking can cause 20 specific diseases and that nicotine is addictive—are sufficiently specific to enable progeny plaintiffs to meet that burden based on the language of the findings themselves. The remaining findings, however, lack the necessary specificity. The language of Finding 3, for example, simply establishes that defendants manufactured some unspecified cigarettes that contained some unidentified defect at some unknown point over a fifty-year period. To invoke the preclusive effect of that finding on their strict liability claims, *Engle* class members therefore must point to material in the *Engle* record that establishes that the Phase I jury *actually decided* that the particular cigarettes they smoked contained a defect that was relevant to their injuries.

Plaintiff did not even attempt to meet that burden here. Nor could he conceivably have done so. In Phase I of *Engle*, the class attempted to prove numerous

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