# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

PHILIP MORRIS USA INC.; R.J. REYNOLDS TOBACCO COMPANY; and LIGGETT GROUP, LLC,

Petitioners,

Case No. SC12-617

v.

L.T. Case Nos. 2D10-3236 & 08-CA-008108

JAMES L. DOUGLAS, as Personal Representative for the Estate of CHARLOTTE M. DOUGLAS,

Respondent.

# ON REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HOWARD M. ACOSTA Florida Bar: 274089 LAW OFFICES OF HOWARD M. ACOSTA 300 First Avenue N. St. Petersburg, Florida 33701 Tel: (727) 894-4469 Fax: (727) 823-7608

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Having the benefit of the entire record, this Court held that the Engle findings were supported by the record, applicable to the entire class, and were binding in the subsequent litigation among the parties. Defendants' brief is an attack on *Engle* itself. Defendants argue that the findings are meaningless, because no one knows exactly what the first jury determined. As we demonstrate in Point I of this brief, Defendants' argument mixes collateral estoppel with res judicata and mischaracterizes the nature of the findings, as every Florida court to consider the application of *Engle* has decided. The jury fully considered the strict liability, negligence, warranty, and other claims, and reached a judgment that was affirmed on appeal. Res judicata bars relitigation of those claims, without any further reference to the evidence and arguments that were raised (or never raised, for that Those issues regarding the misconduct of the Defendants have been matter). forever settled for Engle class members, as every Florida court to consider the issue has held.

Attacking the application of *Engle* to this case, Defendants argue that Plaintiff did not prove causation. To the contrary, as we demonstrate in Point II, the entire trial below centered on causation. Defendants argued that Mrs. Douglas bore sole responsibility for her illness and death because of her choice to smoke. Plaintiff argued that it was her addiction at the hands of Defendants that caused her injuries. The jury considered these arguments, and, properly instructed using Florida standard jury instructions, found that Mrs. Douglas and Defendants shared responsibility for her death. Defendants had their opportunity to convince the jury otherwise and failed. Because Defendants do not challenge the sufficiency of Plaintiff's evidence on this point, the jury's verdict must be affirmed.

We close, in Point III, with a discussion of Defendants' due process arguments, which, like their attacks on *Engle*, ignore the distinction between *res judicata* and collateral estoppel. As we demonstrate, no case has ever held that the long-settled preclusion principles applied by this Court violate due process. Defendants had a full and fair opportunity to defend the defect, negligence, and warranty claims. Indeed, Defendants have had more due process than any defendant in history. No constitutional principle requires that Defendants be given thousands more bites at the apple.

#### **STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

The trial court's interpretation of *Engle*, discussed in Point I and whether *Engle* comports with due process, discussed in Point III, are questions of law reviewed *de novo*. The judge's decision regarding the charge to the jury discussed in Point II "has historically had the presumption of correctness of appeal." *Kearse v. State*, 662 So. 2d 677, 682 (Fla. 1995).

#### **ARGUMENT**

The *Engle* jury, after one of the most time-consuming trials in Florida history, found that Defendants' addictive and deadly products were defective and unreasonably dangerous. The same jury found that Defendants were negligent and breached their warranties in selling these products and concealed the health risks and addictive nature of cigarettes from the public. The result of these wrongs was that millions of young people, like Mrs. Douglas, became addicted to cigarettes, long before the era of explicit warning labels and antismoking education.

This Court then reviewed the findings of the *Engle* jury, and the evidence upon which they were based, and determined that they were applicable to every *Engle* class member. The misconduct of Defendants was settled and the jury's findings were made binding upon Defendants and the class.

Defendants now attack *Engle* itself. Arguing that the year-long *Engle* trial was meaningless, Defendants suggest that every *Engle* progeny plaintiff must prove anew the misconduct established by the Phase I jury. After 18 years of litigation, every *Engle* progeny plaintiff must start over, as if *Engle* never happened. As we demonstrate, no legal principle supports such an unfair result.

### I. This Court Correctly Applied *Res Judicata* to the Phase I Findings.

The first section of Defendants' brief is an attack on *Engle* itself. Defendants argue that this Court must have meant collateral estoppel when it gave "*res* 

*judicata* effect" to the *Engle* findings. Defendants then mischaracterize the results of *Engle* Phase I, arguing the Phase I findings on strict liability, negligence, warranty, and fraud are too general to be applied in any subsequent action. Defendants are wrong on both points, as every Florida trial and appellate court to consider the issue has ruled.

## Defendants Confuse Res Judicata and Collateral Estoppel.

This Court determined that the Phase I jury verdict would have "*res judicata* effect" in subsequent *Engle* progeny trials. *Engle*, 945 So. 2d at 1269, 1277.<sup>9</sup> There is nothing complicated or ambiguous about this holding. *Res judicata* effect means that all claims relating to Tobacco's misconduct are fully settled among the parties, as this Court explained elsewhere in its *Engle* opinion. 945 So. 2d at 1259. Thus, all issues and arguments relevant to these misconduct claims, including all issues that were litigated or *could have been litigated* are forever settled. *See id.*; *Ferrell v. State*, 918 So. 2d 163, 178 (Fla. 2005); *Stogniew v. McQueen*, 656 So. 2d 917, 919 (Fla. 1995); *Smith v. State*, 445 So. 2d 323, 325 (Fla. 1982).

*Res judicata* (also called claim preclusion) is premised on finality.<sup>10</sup> Once two parties have had the opportunity to litigate a claim, they are forever bound by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Defendants concede that the preclusive effect of *Engle* Phase I is a matter of state law (Br. at 18).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> E.g., Baxas Howell Mobley, Inc. v. BP Oil Co., 630 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) (res judicata often referred to as claim preclusion); Hart v. Yamaha-Parts Distributors, Inc., 787 F.2d 1468, 1470 (11th Cir. 1986) (res judicata is "a doctrine of claim preclusion").

the result. *Engle*, 945 So. 2d at 1259. It does not matter that they may now wish to litigate the claim differently or raise arguments that they did not raise the first time around. The matter is concluded and cannot be relitigated in subsequent proceedings. *Id. (res judicata* means that a judgment is "absolute"); *Florida Dept. of Transp. v. Juliano,* 801 So. 2d 101, 105 (Fla. 2001) ("res judicata provides finality to judgments, predictability to litigants, and stability to judicial decisions").

*Res judicata* applies whenever the two cases raise the same claim. *Stogniew*, 656 So. 2d at 919. The focus is not on the evidence presented or the arguments articulated, but on the claim itself. *See Leahy v. Batmasian*, 960 So. 2d 14, 17 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007) (describing when two claims are the same). Once a party has been found negligent, for example, the nature of that negligence or the evidence supporting the claim no longer matters. What matters is that the parties have had their full and fair opportunity to present whatever arguments they wished on the matter of negligence, which is now forever settled between the parties.<sup>11</sup>

As *Engle* recognizes, that is exactly what happened in this case. The parties went into Phase I knowing that it was their opportunity to present their class-wide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See The Florida Bar re Collier, 526 So. 2d 916, 917 (Fla. 1988) (res judicata applied where the party had every opportunity to present evidence and testimony on the claim); Caldwell, for Use & Benefit of Hawkins v. Massachusetts Bonding & Ins. Co., 29 So. 2d 694, 695 (Fla. 1947) (a party that has had the opportunity to litigate a claim should not be permitted "to litigate it again to the harassment and vexation of his opponent."); Hay v. Salisbury, 109 So. 617, 620 (Fla. 1926) ("The foundation principle upon which the doctrine of res judicata rests is that parties ought not to be permitted to litigate the same issue more than once").

evidence and arguments on the strict liability, negligence, warranty, and other claims. The point of Phase I was to settle these conduct claims conclusively as to Tobacco and the members of the class. Certainly, Tobacco thought so. It stressed several times (when it thought that it was going to win) that it wanted to be sure that all Florida class members would be bound: "if the defendants win," they emphasized, "we want as many people as possible bound." (A4 at 11). *Res judicata*, however, is not a one way street.

Defendants' application of collateral estoppel (also called issue preclusion or estoppel by judgment) to this case is inapt.<sup>12</sup> Collateral estoppel applies when two parties litigate *different* claims or causes of action that happen to have some factual or issue overlap.<sup>13</sup> *E.g., Stogniew*, 656 So. 2d at 919 (collateral estoppel applies to different causes of action); *Topps v. State*, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004) (same); *Gordon v. Gordon*, 59 So. 2d 40, 44 (Fla. 1952) (same). If a particular issue relevant to one claim also has relevance to an entirely separate claim, the parties are bound by the earlier resolution of the issue they litigated in the first case. *Stogniew*, 656 So. 2d at 919. Because collateral estoppel focuses on issues,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Collateral estoppel is also referred to as estoppel by judgment, *Stogniew*, 656 So. 2d at 919, or issue preclusion. *City of Oldsmar v. State*, 790 So. 2d 1042, 1046 n.4 (Fla. 2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Although complete identity of parties is still required in Florida, *Mobil Oil Corporation v. Shevin*, 354 So. 2d 372, 374 (Fla. 1977), in federal court collateral estoppel may also apply to the same issue even when one of the parties in the subsequent case on a different claim was not involved in the original litigation. *E.g., E.E.O.C. v. Pemco Aeroplex, Inc.*, 383 F. 3d 1280, 1285 (11th Cir. 2004).

not claims, the party seeking to apply estoppel to a different claim must focus on the issues that were actually litigated and demonstrate that the parties have already litigated that particular issue to conclusion. *Id*.

Defendants ignore this critical distinction between claim preclusion and issue preclusion. In this case, the parties fully litigated their strict liability, negligence, warranty, and other *claims*. The jury was not asked to resolve particular evidentiary issues or disputes, it was asked to resolve particular classwide claims or causes of action. The specific evidentiary and legal arguments the parties chose to litigate (or failed to litigate) along the way to the resolution of those claims is now irrelevant in connection with an attempted relitigation of the same claim. The strict liability, negligence, warranty, and other conduct claims resolved by the *Engle* jury have been forever settled. *See R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. Martin*, 53 So. 3d 1060, 1067 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010) (*Engle* jury decided the "conduct" elements of the claims asserted by the class and not simply "a collection of facts relevant to those claims").

At bottom, the case is no different than if plaintiffs had sued one cigarette manufacturer for strict liability and won. There is no doubt that the losing defendant could not attempt to overturn the result of the first lawsuit in another forum. As to the parties in the first case, the issue of strict liability is forever settled, regardless if Defendants wish they had litigated the case differently or claim to have additional defenses that would have enabled them to prevail. One claim, one opportunity to litigate, it is as simple as that.

Defendants make much of the fact that the *Engle* jury did not resolve the individual causation and damages elements of the strict liability, negligence, and warranty claims. Defendants have not explained why the existence of these remaining individual issues should convert what would normally be *res judicata* into collateral estoppel. There can be no dispute that the conduct elements of the strict liability, negligence, warranty, and other claims were fully litigated in *Engle*, perhaps as fully litigated as any case in Florida history. There is also no doubt that Defendants are seeking to relitigate those same misconduct claims here. The cases could not be clearer. Later litigation on the same claim invokes *res judicata*. Collateral estoppel only applies if the second case is based on a different claim.<sup>14</sup> *E.g., Topps*, 865 So. 2d at 1255; *Gordon*, 59 So. 2d at 44-45.

Equally significant, the work of the later *Engle* progeny juries on causation or damages could have no impact on the previous misconduct findings. The point is, as this Court recognized in giving the *Engle* Phase I findings *res judicata* effect, these class-wide conduct claims were fully litigated and decided and need not be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Defendants also argue that the court in the second case determines the preclusive effect of the first judgment (Br. 20). This is true as to trial courts, but this Court, as the ultimate decider of Florida law, had the power to determine how the *Engle* findings would be used in the subsequent litigation among the parties. Defendants cite nothing to the contrary.

litigated again. No other result makes sense (or is fair to the plaintiffs) under the unique circumstances of this case

Defendants also argue that *res judicata* cannot apply to just the conduct portion of the Plaintiffs' tort claims (Br. at 18-19). Yet, Defendants have offered no reason why *res judicata* should not apply to the conduct findings here, when the conduct claim has been fully litigated, subject to a jury verdict, and received the full panoply of appellate rights including review by this Court and the United States Supreme Court. As we have demonstrated, the proper focus is whether the parties are litigating the same or different claims. If Defendants attempt to relitigate the same claim, *res judicata* applies. As the First District recognized in rejecting Defendants' argument, the parties litigated the conduct elements of the claim, not individual facts.<sup>15</sup> *Martin*, 53 So. 3d at 1067.

In short, this Court meant what it said when it gave the *Engle* Phase I findings "*res judicata* effect."

## The Engle Phase I Findings Are Not Vague or Uncertain.

Defendants argue that the Phase I findings are too vague and uncertain to be given any preclusive effect. According to Defendants, the jury may have narrowly decided that only one particular brand was defective and perhaps, Defendants

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> At the end of the day, as *Martin* recognized, this fuss over *res judicata* versus collateral estoppel is academic. *Martin*, 53 So. 3d at 1067. The bigger point is, this Court intended the conduct claims, however characterized, to be forever settled among the Defendants and the class. *Engle*, 945 So. 2d at 1267.
speculate, Mrs. Douglas never smoked that defective brand. This argument is too late, has been waived, and ignores the way this case was litigated.

First, the argument is too late. Defendants knew that Phase I was going to lead to findings applicable to every member of the class. Indeed, that is exactly what they wanted. If they thought that the Phase I findings were inadequate for that purpose, they should have proposed instructions in *Engle* Phase I that would have protected that interest. For whatever strategic reason, Defendants chose not to offer such a form. *Res judicata* means, however, that this argument should have been raised in *Engle* Phase I, not now. Any argument over the adequacy of the *Engle* Phase I jury instructions is now settled. *Engle*, 945 So. 2d at 1259 (*res judicata* applies to any issue that could have been raised).

Defendants never submitted a more detailed proposal in any proper form. The closest they came was their form asking for fill-in-the-blank and narrative answers, which the judge quite properly rejected (A31). Defendants failed to offer another more detailed form, despite requests from the trial judge. The Defendants' failure to offer a proper verdict form has waived their argument that the verdict form should have been more detailed. To preserve an argument for a jury instruction or verdict form, a party must propose a version which itself is accurate and not objectionable. *See* 1.1470, Fla. R. Civ. P.; *Whitman v. Castlewood Int'l*, 383 So. 2d 618, 619-20 (Fla. 1980) (to properly object to a general verdict form,

party must submit a proper special verdict form).

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